In the Supreme Court of the State of California

THE PEOPLE,

Plaintiff and Respondent,

V.

MARTIN MANZO,

Defendant and Appellant.

Case No. S191400



JUL 1 3 2011

Fourth Appellate District, Division One, Case No. D05567 rederick K. Ohlrich Clerk
County Superior Court, Case No. SCS 212840
The Honorable Timothy R. Walsh, Judge

RESPONDENT'S OPENING BRIEF ON THE MERITS

ISSUE PRESENTED

Whether a defendant can be convicted of discharging a firearm at an occupied motor vehicle in violation of Penal Code¹ section 246, if he was outside the vehicle at the time he discharged the firearm, but the firearm was itself was inside the vehicle?

INTRODUCTION

On an August afternoon in 2007, appellant drove his two passengers, Jose Valadez and Jose Estrada, to the back of his apartment complex and parked his truck. Appellant got out of the truck and pulled a gun out of his waistband. Appellant stood next to his truck. He pointed the gun towards Valadez and Estrada, and pulled the trigger. After the gun misfired once, appellant fatally shot Valadez in the left cheek. As relevant here, the jury convicted appellant of shooting at an occupied vehicle. The Court of Appeal reversed the conviction, finding the evidence insufficient to support a finding that the firearm was outside the periphery of the vehicle.

This Court should reverse the Court of Appeal's decision because it contravenes the legislative intent and purpose behind section 246, and conflicts with other California Court of Appeal decisions based on similar facts. The purpose of section 246 is to protect the vulnerable victims inside the occupied vehicle or other enumerated structures. This goal is met whether the shooter is three feet from the vehicle, or standing next to it with the firearm inside the vehicle. In both situations, the occupant of the vehicle is essentially trapped, while the shooter has the unfair advantage of being able to avoid a counter attack and to rapidly escape after committing the crime. Thus, this Court should find that a defendant may be convicted of discharging a firearm at an occupied motor vehicle in violation of section

¹ All future statutory references are to the Penal Code unless otherwise indicated.

246 if he was outside the vehicle at the time he discharged the firearm, but the firearm itself was inside the vehicle.

STATEMENT OF FACTS AND CASE

On the afternoon of August 3, 2007, Jose Valadez and Jose Estrada got into appellant's truck. Appellant had previously tattooed "Catalina" on Valadez's wrist, and he was going to perform some more tattoo work on Valadez. (9 RT 1480-1481, 1483, 1491-1492; 1539; 12 RT 2221; 2 CT 298-299, 304, 321, 330, 336.) The men briefly stopped at appellant's apartment in Chula Vista to retrieve appellant's tattoo gun. Appellant drove his white Ford truck to the back of his apartment complex and parked in a stall. (8 RT 1229, 1231, 1309-1310; 9 RT 1480-1481, 1483, 1491-1496.) He got out of the truck and stood next to the driver's side seat while Estrada and Valadez stayed in the truck. Appellant pulled a handgun out from his waistband. (9 RT 1496-1497, 1509-1510; 12 RT 2218; 13 RT 2261; 2 CT 299, 302, 306-308, 311, 331.) He smiled and placed the gun on the driver's seat. (9 RT 1497, 1578; 2 CT 302, 309, 311-312, 331.) Valadez, who was leaning forward replacing a shoelace, asked if he could see the gun. (9 RT 1497, 1578; 12 RT 2219; 2 CT 339-340.) Appellant picked up the gun, pointed it at Estrada and Valadez, and pulled the trigger. The gun did not fire. (9 RT 1498, 1501; 2 CT 298-299, 302, 312, 331, 339.)

Removing the magazine from the gun, appellant manually loaded the firearm. (9 RT 1501-1503; 2 CT 307-308, 332.) Appellant pointed the gun towards Estrada and Valadez and again pulled the trigger. This time, appellant shot Valadez in the left cheek. Valadez began bleeding profusely. (9 RT 1498, 1503-1504; 2 CT 298-299, 302, 309, 332.) Appellant then pointed the gun at Estrada and pulled the trigger. The gun did not fire. (9 RT 1506; 2 CT 298, 305, 339.) After ordering Estrada to push Valadez out

the passenger door, appellant got back into the truck and drove away. (9 RT 1505, 1571, 1577-1579; 12 RT 2224-2225; 13 RT 2262-2263.)

After appellant was apprehended, police found a dismantled handgun inside a cooler in the bed of the truck. (5 RT 628-629.) The slide release for the handgun was found on the driver's side floorboard of the truck, in between the floorboard and the seat. (5 RT 631-632.)

During an interview with Chula Vista Police Detective Thomas Brown, Estrada described appellant's position when he discharged the gun. After appellant parked the truck, he opened the driver's side door and got out of the truck. (2 CT 307.) Estrada said appellant's whole body was out of the car and the truck door was open. (2 CT 308-309.) Appellant took the gun out of his waistband and set it on the seat of the truck. (2 CT 311-312.) Appellant then picked up the gun, and it misfired once. After reloading the gun, appellant shot Valadez. (2 CT 312.)

At trial, Estrada demonstrated for the jury how appellant was standing while holding the gun. Appellant held the gun in his right hand at approximately shoulder height with his arm about three-quarters extended. (9 RT 1510.)

Demond Dukes, a resident at appellant's apartment complex, told Detective Brown that after he heard a "pop," he looked out of his apartment and saw the shooter standing outside the driver's door of the truck with the door open. The shooter had a gun in his left hand, pointed towards the ground. (12 RT 2113-2115.)

Dr. Steven Campman, a forensic pathologist, testified that the gunshot wound was an "atypical distance gunshot wound." (8 RT 1244-1245, 1253-1254.) This meant that the bullet was deformed before it hit the body so it caused multiple holes and some smaller tears. There was no soot or stippling on Valadez's face. (8 RT 1254-1255.) Dr. Campman opined that the shooter was at a "distant range" from the victim because there was no

soot or sheering, or stippling. (8 RT 1286.) A distant range gunshot wound could be anything from two to three feet away, or farther; far enough away so that gunpowder does not hit the skin. (8 RT 1284-1285.) Dr. Campman could not exactly determine the distance of the muzzle from the victim's skin, but knew it was far enough away to leave no stippling. (8 RT 1286-1287.) With most handguns, over 27 inches would leave no stippling. (8 RT 1288-1289.) The same weapon would need to be fired to determine the exact distance the muzzle was from the skin to see when soot or stippling would no longer be left on the skin. (8 RT 1287, 1290.)

In January 2009, three detectives from Chula Vista Police Department created a reenactment of the shooting. (9 RT 1452.) The reenactment was based on Estrada's statement to the police and forensic evidence. (9 RT 1461.) Photographs of the reenactment were shown to the jury. (Exh. Nos. 140 – 150; 9 RT 1454-1459.) Exhibit numbers 143 through 148 showed the person depicting appellant holding the gun and pointing it towards the two passengers. Exhibit numbers 149 and 150 showed a tape measure being held from the cheek of the "victim" to the muzzle of the replica firearm, and 27 inches was marked on the tape measure. (9 RT 1455-1459.)

A San Diego County jury found appellant guilty of murder (count 1; § 187, subd. (a)); shooting at an occupied vehicle (count 2; § 246); attempted murder (count 3; §§ 664/187); and unlawfully possessing ammunition (count 4; § 12316, subd. (b)(1)). The jury found true the firearm enhancements associated with counts 1 and 2 (§§ 12022.5, subd. (a) & 12022.53, subds. (b) & (d)), and count 3 (§§ 12022.5, subd. (a) & 12022.53, subd. (b)). With respect to count 2, the jury also found appellant inflicted great bodily injury (§ 12022.7, subd. (a)). (2 CT 558-570.) Appellant admitted the following prior conviction enhancements: three prison priors (§§ 667.5 & 668), two serious felony priors (§§ 667, subd.

(a)(1), 668, & 1192.7, subd. (c)), and two strike priors (§§ 667, subds. (b) – (i), 1170.12, & 668). (2 CT 571.) The trial court sentenced appellant to 150 years to life plus 5 years in state prison. (2 CT 469-470, 572-573.)

Appellant appealed, contending, among other things, that insufficient evidence supported his conviction for shooting at an occupied vehicle. On January 31, 2011, the Court of Appeal for the Fourth Appellate District, Division One, issued a published decision affirming the convictions for first degree murder, attempted murder, and unlawfully possessing ammunition, and reversing the conviction for discharging a firearm at an occupied vehicle. As pertinent here, the Court of Appeal agreed with appellant that the evidence was insufficient to establish he shot at an occupied vehicle.

On March 14, 2011, appellant filed a petition for review raising various challenges to his convictions. On May 18, 2011, this Court denied appellant's petition for review and ordered, on its own motion, review limited to the issue stated above.

ARGUMENT

I. A DEFENDANT MAY BE CONVICTED OF DISCHARGING A FIREARM AT AN OCCUPIED MOTOR VEHICLE IN VIOLATION OF PENAL CODE SECTION 246 IF HE WAS OUTSIDE THE VEHICLE AT THE TIME HE DISCHARGED HIS FIREARM BUT THE FIREARM ITSELF WAS INSIDE THE VEHICLE

In 1949, prosecutors and law enforcement groups sponsored a bill because of the increasing frequency of shootings into homes by reckless, irresponsible and malicious persons. As a result, the Legislature enacted Penal Code section 246, which prohibited malicious and willful discharge of a firearm at an inhabited dwelling house or occupied building. The purpose of this new law was to prevent injury or death to the people inside the dwelling house or building. Over the years, this statute has been amended to include an occupied motor vehicle, an inhabited house car or inhabited camper, and an occupied aircraft.

The Court of Appeal's decision in the instant matter, holding that because the firearm and appellant's hand, and possibly part of his arm, may have been inside the vehicle when he discharged the gun, the evidence was insufficient to sustain a conviction under section 246, must be reversed. The decision undermines the intent and purpose of section 246, and conflicts with other California Court of Appeal's holdings based on similar facts.

This Court should hold that when a person is standing outside a vehicle, but the firearm and/or the part of the shooter's body holding the firearm is inside that vehicle, the person is shooting "at" the vehicle for purposes of Penal Code section 246. Section 246 was originally enacted to protect individuals in their homes, and later amended to include individuals inside vehicles. A person outside a vehicle has an unfair advantage over a "sitting duck" inside the vehicle; section 246 protects the vulnerable victim inside from the possibility of injury or death. This does not change whether the shooter is three feet away, or holding the firearm inside the vehicle. Thus, one who is shooting into a vehicle is also shooting at or towards that vehicle and should be held accountable under section 246.

A. Penal Code Section 246

Penal Code section 246 provides:

Any person who shall maliciously and willfully discharge a firearm at an inhabited dwelling house, occupied building, occupied motor vehicle, occupied air craft, inhabited house car, . . ., or inhabited camper, . . ., is guilty of a felony, and upon conviction shall be punished by imprisonment in the state prison for three, five, or seven years, or by imprisonment in the county jail for a term of not less than six months and not exceeding one year.

As used in this section, "inhabited" means currently being used for dwelling purposes, whether occupied or not.

(Pen. Code, § 246.)

Thus, in order to be convicted of shooting at an occupied motor vehicle, the prosecutor must prove (1) the defendant willfully and maliciously shot a firearm and (2) the defendant shot the firearm at an occupied motor vehicle. (CALCRIM No. 965.)

The principles governing statutory interpretation are well established. As this Court has observed, its "role on in construing a statute is to ascertain the Legislature's intent so as to effectuate the purpose of the law." (People v. Canty (2004) 32 Cal.4th 1266, 1276, quoting Curle v. Superior Court (2001) 24 Cal.4th 1057.) In approaching this task, the court will "first go to the words of the statute, giving the language its usual, ordinary meaning. If there is no ambiguity in the language, we presume the Legislature meant what it said, and the plain meaning of the statute governs." (Curle v. Superior Court, supra, 24 Cal.4th at p. 1063.) To the extent ambiguity exists, a reviewing court examines the context of the language, keeping in mind the nature and obvious purpose of the statute, adopting the construction that best harmonizes the statute internally and with related statutes. (See People v. Murphy (2001) 25 Cal.4th 136, 142; People v. Jefferson (1999) 21 Cal.4th 86, 94.)

It is well settled that the proper goal of statutory construction 'is to ascertain and effectuate legislative intent, giving the words of the statute their usual and ordinary meaning. When the statutory language is clear, we need go no further. If, however, the language supports more than one reasonable interpretation, we look to a variety of extrinsic aids, including the objects to be achieved, the evils to be remedied, legislative history, the statutory scheme of which the statute is part, contemporaneous administrative construction, and questions of public policy. [Citation.]'

(People v. Ramirez (2009) 45 Cal.4th 980, 987, quoting Moran v. Murtaugh Miller Meyer & Nelson, LLP (2007) 40 Cal.4th 780, 783.)

Further, the Penal Code expressly states that "[t]he rule of the common law, that penal code statutes are to be strictly construed, has no

application to this Code. All its provisions are to be construed according to the fair import of their terms, with a view to effect its objects and promote justice." (Pen. Code, § 4; see *People v. Hallner* (1954) 43 Cal.2d 715, 720-721; *People v. Morrison* (2011) 191 Cal.App.4th 1551, 1556.) At the same time, it is well settled that courts may not create an offense by enlarging a statue, or by adding or deleting words, or giving false meaning to words. (*People v. Baker* (1968) 69 Cal.2d 44, 50.) While it is true the defendant is entitled to the benefit of every reasonable doubt regarding the language used in a statute, this canon "entitles the defendant only to the benefit of every realistic doubt." (*People v. Anderson* (1987) 43 Cal.3d 1104, 1145, superseded by statute on another ground.) As this Court has observed,

This rule of construction 'is not an inexorable command to override common sense and evident statutory purpose. It does not require magnified emphasis upon a single ambiguous word in order to give it a meaning contradictory to the fair import of the whole remaining language.' [Citations.] Or in the words of Justice Black, writing for the court in *United States v. Raynor* (1938) 302 U.S. 540, 552, 58 S.Ct. 353, 359, 82 L.Ed. 413, the rule does not 'require[] that a penal statute be strained and distorted in order to exclude conduct clearly intended to be within its scope—nor does any rule require that the act be given the 'narrowest meaning.' It is sufficient if the words are given their fair meaning in accord with the evident intent of [the legislative body].'

(People v. Anderson, supra, 43 Cal.3d at p. 1145.)

B. Legislative History of Penal Code Section 246

Penal Code section 246, as originally enacted in 1949, made it a crime for any person:

[W]ho shall maliciously and willfully discharge a firearm at an inhabited dwelling house or occupied building, . . .

(Stats. 1949, ch. 698, § 1, p. 1200.)

Section 246 was introduced as Assembly Bill 414, as

An act to add Section 246 to the Penal Code, relating to the discharging of firearms or throwing of missiles *into* dwelling houses or occupied buildings.

(See Assem. Bill No. 414 (1949 Reg. Sess.) as introduced Jan. 12, 1949, § 1, emphasis added.)

Although the word "into" was used in the title of the bill, the body of the bill used the word "at." The first amendment to the bill changed the word "into" in the title to "at," and limited the act to discharging a firearm. (See Assem. Amend. to Assem. Bill No. 414 (1949 Reg. Sess.) April 7, 1949.) In *People v. Stepney* (1981) 120 Cal.App.3d 1016, the Court of Appeal noted this change and interpreted the change to allow prosecution of those who shoot at a building but miss. (*Id.* at p. 1020.)

Section 246 has been amended six times. The amendments either augmented the punishment for the offense, or added additional types of occupied or inhabited spaces protected by the statute. (See Stats. 1976 ch. 1119 § 1; Stats. 1977 ch. 690 § 1; Stats. 1978 ch. 579 § 13; Stats. 1982 ch. 136 § 2; Stats. 1986 ch. 1430 § 1, ch. 1433 § 1; Stats. 1988 ch 911 § 1.) As relevant here, the 1976 amendment added "or occupied motor vehicle" to the statute. (Stats. 1976, ch. 1119, § 1.)

Before this amendment, the law made it a felony to discharge a firearm at a vehicle or occupant thereof with the intent to do great bodily harm. (See former Veh. Code, § 23110, subd. (b).) The proposed change made it a felony to discharge a firearm at an occupied motor vehicle, and eliminated the requirement of an intent to commit great bodily harm. It also moved the crime from the Vehicle Code to the Penal Code. (See Assem. Comm. on Crim. Jus. on Assem. Bill No. 3303 (1975-1976 Reg. Sess.) April 7, 1976 [proposed amendment].) The purpose of the amendment was to "[s]trengthen the law prohibiting the discharge of a firearm at a motor vehicle." (Sen. Comm. on Judiciary, com. on AB 3303

(1975-1976 Reg. Sess.) as amended May 5, 1976, pp. 1-2.) "The requirement that the prosecution prove that the defendant intended great bodily harm has hampered efforts to obtain convictions in serious cases." (*Ibid.*)

C. Judicial Decisions Interpreting Section 246

Several appellate courts have examined the meaning of "at" in section 246. In *People v. Chavira* (1970) 3 Cal.App.3d 988 (*Chavira*), the defendant was convicted under section 246 for shooting at a crowd of people standing around a house. (*Id.* at pp. 990-991.) The defendant challenged his conviction, claiming he was shooting at the people, not the dwelling. (*Id.* at p. 992.) The Court of Appeal affirmed the conviction, holding the jury could find the defendant was aware of the probability that some shots would hit the building, thereby endangering its inhabitants, and was consciously indifferent to the result. (*Id.* at p. 993.)

In *People v. Stepney, supra*, 120 Cal.App.3d 1016, the Court of Appeal examined whether shooting a firearm while standing inside an inhabited dwelling was a violation of section 246. There, the defendant climbed through a window of a house after an occupant of the house would not open the door. (*Id.* at p. 1018.) After the defendant found out his intended victim was not home, he said to the intended victim's roommate, "[t]his is a syndicate business and we are not playing any games." (*Ibid.*) The defendant then shot the victim's television set. (*Ibid.*) On appeal, the defendant claimed his conviction should be reversed because section 246 only prohibited shooting at the specified targets from the outside. (*Ibid.*) The Court of Appeal agreed:

We conclude that the firing of a pistol within a dwelling house does not constitute a violation of Penal Code section 246. The most that can be said for petitioner's conduct was that he intentionally discharged a pistol within a dwelling. Because that conduct was not proscribed by the statute under which he was

prosecuted, his conviction must be reversed. We carefully note, however, that a different question would be presented if a person fired a weapon from one apartment into an adjoining apartment, either through the common wall, or through the floor or ceiling. A different question would also be presented if an individual discharged a firearm in a hallway of a multiple family dwelling. We make these references to emphasize that our decision here is limited to the discharge of a firearm within a dwelling.

(Stepney, supra, at p. 1021.)

The Stepney court noted that the word "at' is a word of many meanings," and that "an argument [could] be made that one can shoot at a building or automobile from within as well as from without." (People v. Stepney, supra, at p. 1019.) The Court of Appeal also noted there was little information regarding the legislative intent behind the statute, but as originally proposed, the statute prohibited discharging a firearm "into" a dwelling. Before the bill was enacted, "into" was changed to "at." (Id. at p. 1020.) The Court of Appeal agreed with the defendant's interpretation that this change was made to enable the prosecution of those who discharge a firearm at a building but miss. (Ibid.)

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