### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

THE PEOPLE OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA, Plaintiff and Respondent,

VS.

MARTIN MANZO,
Defendant and Appellant.

Case No. S191400



SEP 6 2011

Frederick K. Official Glerk

Fourth Appellate District, Division One, Case No. D0556/1 Deputy
San Diego County Superior Court, Case No. SCS212840
The Honorable Timothy R. Walsh, Judge

### APPELLANT'S ANSWER BRIEF ON THE MERITS

Arthur Martin State Bar No. 222569

P.O. Box 5084 Klamath Falls, OR 97601 (541) 273-8738 arthurmartin@justice.com

Attorney for Defendant and Appellant MARTIN MANZO

#

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

#### **ARGUMENT**

I.

FIRING A GUN HELD INSIDE THE THRESHOLD OF A CAR IS NOT DISCHARGING A FIREARM "AT" AN OCCUPIED VEHICLE WITHIN THE MEANING OF PENAL CODE SECTION 246.

Appellant Martin Manzo was charged with and convicted of shooting at an occupied vehicle under Penal Code section 246. As relevant to this case, section 246 states that "Any person who shall maliciously and willfully discharge a firearm at an . . . occupied motor vehicle . . . is guilty of a felony. . . ."

The evidence at trial showed the shooter stood in the open driver-side door of appellant's truck, extended an arm holding a gun, and shot Jose Valadez who was sitting in the passenger seat. The evidence tended to prove the gun used to shoot Valadez was held within the threshold of appellant's truck at the time it was fired. Applying the rules of statutory construction leads to the conclusion that this act of shooting at a person sitting in a truck, using a gun that is also within the truck when it is fired, does not qualify as "discharging a firearm at an occupied vehicle" within the meaning of section 246. Accordingly, the Court of Appeal's reversal of the conviction should be affirmed.

# A. The courts have a well-established process to determine the meaning of a law.

Courts are often called upon to determine the meaning of a law. The objective of such statutory interpretation "is to ascertain and effectuate legislative intent." (*People v. Flores* (2003) 30 Cal.4th 1059, 1063; see also *People v. Trevino* (2001) 26 Cal.4th 237, 240.) In other words, the meaning of a law depends on what the people who passed the law intended it to mean. Accordingly, the first step in statutory construction is to examine the the actual words of the statute, giving them their usual and ordinary meaning. (*People v. Trevino, supra*, 26 Cal.4th at p. 241.) If the language of a statute is clear, there is no need for construction; the Legislature is determined to have intended the unambiguous meaning, which a court can apply to particular cases. (*People v. Woodhead* (1987) 43 Cal.3d 1002, 1007-1008.)

"However, when the language is susceptible of more than one reasonable interpretation, we look to a variety of extrinsic aids, including the ostensible objects to be achieved, the evils to be remedied, the legislative history, public policy, contemporaneous administrative construction, and the statutory scheme of which the statute is a part."

(*People v. Flores*, *supra*, 30 Cal.4th at p. 1063.)

Finally, the rule of lenity provides that "[w]hen language which is

susceptible of two constructions is used in a penal law, the policy of this state is to construe the statute as favorably to the defendant as its language and the circumstance of its application reasonably permit. The defendant is entitled to the benefit of every reasonable doubt as to the true interpretation of words or the construction of a statute." (*People v. Overstreet* (1986) 42 Cal.3d 891, 896; see also *People v. Woodhead*, *supra*, 43 Cal.3d 1002, 1011; *Keeler v. Superior Court* (1970) 2 Cal.3d 619, 631 ["[i]t is the policy of this state to construe a penal statute as favorably to the defendant as its language and the circumstances of its application may reasonably permit"]; *People v. Stepney* (1981) 120 Cal.App.3d 1016, 1019.)

B. Statutory construction of Penal Code section 246 shows it does not apply to the discharge of a weapon that is inside an occupied vehicle.

Applying the rules of statutory construction to section 246's criminalization of the willful and malicious discharge of a firearm at an occupied vehicle shows the statute does not apply to the act of discharging a firearm that is inside the occupied vehicle, whether or not the shooter is inside or outside the vehicle. Other laws would apply to ensure such a shooting could be prosecuted and punished, but section 246 does not.

## 1. The language of section 246.

Section 246, as relevant here, makes it a crime to "maliciously and willfully discharge a firearm at an . . . occupied motor vehicle. . . . . " (Pen. Code, § 246.)¹ In other words, the crime defined in that clause of section 246 is shooting at a vehicle that has people inside. "At" is an interesting word, the commonality of which masks a surprising complexity. The American Heritage Dictionary lists 13 separate definitions. While this complexity might in itself make section 246 ambiguous, it seems clear the relevant definition of "at" is "To or toward the direction or location of, especially for a specific purpose." (American Heritage Dict. (3rd ed. 1992) p. 115.) This definition, emphasizing a direction, a pointing toward, contrasts with definitions concerned with location ("the book is at the

Any person who shall maliciously and willfully discharge a firearm at an inhabited dwelling house, occupied building, occupied motor vehicle, occupied aircraft, inhabited housecar, as defined in Section 362 of the Vehicle Code, or inhabited camper, as defined in Section 243 of the Vehicle Code, is guilty of a felony, and upon conviction shall be punished by imprisonment in the state prison for three, five, or seven years, or by imprisonment in the county jail for a term of not less than six months and not exceeding one year.

As used in this section, "inhabited" means currently being used for dwelling purposes, whether occupied or not.

(Pen. Code, § 246.)

<sup>1</sup> The complete statute reads:

library"), temporality ("the show starts at 8"), and activity ("she is good at math"), among others. Respondent's attempt to focus on the location-oriented meaning of "at" related to "nearness or proximity" is misguided (Respondent's Opening Brief on the Merits [hereafter ROBM], p. 21); that definition would only apply if section 246 criminalized the discharge of a weapon by a person who is located "at" a building or vehicle. As far as appellant can discern, no one thinks that is the way to read the statute.

Adopting the relevant, directional definition of "at" makes the act criminalized by the vehicle clause of section 246 the willful and malicious discharge of a firearm "toward the direction or location of" an occupied vehicle. This language would encompass an act of shooting at a car that has people in it, say shooting at one of the tires of a passing car, as well as shooting at a person who is in a car, such as a sniper attempting to kill a car's driver. Although in the latter example, the sniper would be shooting at a person, he would necessarily be shooting toward the direction or location of an occupied vehicle at the same time. But this definition of "at" does not encompass the act of reaching a gun inside the threshold of a car and shooting at someone. Once the gun crosses the threshold, the act of shooting is no longer "toward the direction or location of" a *vehicle*; rather, it is shooting at a person who happens to be in a vehicle. The act is

obviously punishable as a crime, just not the crime defined by section 246.

The "no ambiguity" position advocated here was taken by the appellant in People v. Stepney, supra, 120 Cal.App.3d 1016, 1019, who was convicted of discharging a firearm at an occupied dwelling house after he climbed into an occupied building through a window and fired a bullet into a television set while he was in the living room. (Id. at p. 1018.) The Court of Appeal did not reject the appellant's position, but noted that "'at' is a word of many meanings" and that "[a]n argument can be made that once can shoot at a building or automobile from within as well as from without." (Id. at p. 1019.) "Nevertheless," the Stepney court concluded, "even if section 246 is ambiguous and reasonably susceptible to both the narrow reading urged by appellant and the broader reading urged by the People, the court must construe that ambiguity in favor of appellant, unless to do so would result in an absurdity which the Legislature should not be presumed to have intended." (Ibid., citing People v. Malcolm (1975) 47 Cal.App.3d 217, 222, italics added.)

In other words, the *Stepney* court did not agree section 246 was ambiguous, but ruled that *even if it was*, the rules of statutory construction – ultimately the rule of lenity, as the Legislative history itself was insufficiently specific to illuminate the point – precluded section's 246

application to the act of discharging a firearm *inside* an occupied dwelling. (*People v. Stepney, supra*, 120 Cal.App.3d at pp. 1019-1021.)

The holding of Stepney was applied without ambiguity in People v. Morales (2008) 168 Cal.App.4th 1075, 1079-1082, where the court noted that if a shooter has already committed a burglary, having entered a building with a felonious intent, then a subsequent shooting would necessarily be shooting within rather than at the building, and the shooting would not fall within the acts proscribed by section 246. (Id. at pp. 1080-1082.) Under People v. Valencia (2002) 28 Cal.4th 1, 10-11, any penetration of a building's outer boundary, even putting one's hand in an open window. is an entry of the building within the meaning of the burglary statute. Thus, if a defendant remains standing outside a building, but sticks his hand in a window holding a gun and fires a shot, he is within the building and not culpable for shooting at the building within the meaning of section 246. This means that for a conviction under section 246, a prosecutor must prove the gun was outside the dwelling (or vehicle) at the time it was discharged.

Finally, the holding in *People v. Jischke* (1996) 51 Cal.App.4th 552, is in accord with these principles. In that case, a defendant in one apartment fired a gun at the floor, which was the ceiling of the apartment below. (*Id.* at pp. 553-554.) The defendant was properly convicted of

shooting at an occupied dwelling, but it was not the one he was in, it was the separate adjoining dwelling. (*Id.* at p. 556.) A similarly proper conviction would result from the following, somewhat fanciful example: a person drives a car into the cargo hold area of a large transport plane; a second person in the cargo hold shoots at the car. The shooter would be culpable under section 246 for shooting at the occupied vehicle parked inside the plane, but would not be guilty for shooting at the occupied aircraft within which the shooting occurred.

Although appellant urges the Court to adopt the reasonable, unambiguous, directional definition of "at," he acknowledges that cases brought by the government under section 246 have led courts to address some potential ambiguity in the statute. However, even if it is appropriate to look at the history and purpose of the statute, the result is the same: holding a gun inside the threshold of a car and shooting at someone sitting in the car is not the kind of criminal act section 246 was intended to reach.

2. The legislative history and object to be achieved by the 1976 addition to section 246.

The legislative history of the 1976 addition of "occupied vehicle" to section 246 makes clear the discharge of a firearm within the threshold of a vehicle was not a criminal action the statute was intended to address.

The Attorney General's analysis of the legislative history at issue in

this case is fatally flawed. In their Opening Brief on the Merits, respondent extensively addresses the legislative history of the original section 246, enacted in 1949, but only briefly acknowledges the separate history of the 1976 addition of "occupied vehicle" to the statute, and that separate, most relevant history plays no role in respondent's analysis of the issue. (ROBM, pp. 8-10, 17-26.)

There are two significant problems with respondent's construction of the legislative history: (1) the reliance on the word "into," which is not in section 246, as a replacement for "at"; and (2) the failure to address the legislative history and intent of the 1976 addition of "occupied vehicle" as one of the proscribed targets in section 246.

a. "At" and "into" are not synonyms; respondent's analysis of section 246 is undermined by its replacement of the word "at," which is in the statute, with word "into," which is not.

First, much of respondent's analysis turns on a word – "into" – that is not in the statute. As respondent notes (ROBM, pp. 8-9), the title of the original Assembly Bill leading to section 246 was "An act to add Section 246 to the Penal Code, relating to the discharging of firearms or throwing of missiles into dwelling houses or occupied buildings." (Assem. Bill No. 414 (1949 Reg. Sess.) as introduced Jan. 12, 1949, § 1.) Again, as respondent notes, the word "into" in the title did not appear in the language of the

actual law being proposed, and the very first amendment of the bill changed the "into" in the title to "at," in accord with the proposed language of the statute. (ROBM, p. 9.) Then, when respondent turns to arguing the proper interpretation of section 246, it proceeds as if the key word in the statute was not "at," but rather "into."

In this way, respondent recapitulates the mistaken path taken by the court in *People v. Jones* (2010) 187 Cal.App.4th 266. In *Jones*, a woman was accused of standing outside a car and shooting at a person sitting within the car. (*Id.* at p. 269.) A jury note asked if the defendant could be convicted under section 246 if she was outside the car but the gun was inside. (*Id.* at pp. 270-271.) The trial court answered, "YES." (*Ibid.*) The Court of Appeal agreed with the trial court and affirmed the conviction. (*Id.* at pp. 274-275.)

In reaching that conclusion, the *Jones* court recognized the lack of direct authority on the issue and then based its analysis on the purported synonymy of the word "at" in section 246 and the word "into": "the prohibition against discharging a firearm 'at' the structures listed in section 246 must include a prohibition against discharging a firearm 'into' those same structures. . . . [I]t seems clear that one who stands outside an occupied vehicle and sticks her hand and/or a firearm into the vehicle and

shoots is firing into the occupied vehicle." (*People v. Jones, supra*, at p. 274.)

The problem with this analysis is that "at" and "into" are not synonyms. "At" typically refers to either a location ("Alice is at work") or, as in section 246, a direction ("Betty is pointing at her house"). "Into," on the other hand, is beyond direction, it is a process, a getting somewhere ("Carl drove the car into the garage"). Understood in this way, the concept of "into" has no relevance to section 246; section 246 is about the direction of, not the follow-through on, a discharge of a weapon. Section 246 criminalizes discharging a weapon toward a specified target; what happens to the bullet - where it goes - may result in criminal culpability under other statutes, as it did in this case, but is beyond the scope of section 246. Therefore, the equation of "at" with "into" in People v. Jones, supra, and respondent's brief in the instant case results in an erroneous interpretation of the statute. If someone shoots into a car or building from a distance, he will simultaneously be shooting at the car or building; but if the gun is across the threshold when discharged, the shooting is into the car or building, but not at the car or building. Thus, if a gun is across the threshold when maliciously and willfully discharged, some crime has occurred, but not the one defined in section 246.

b. The legislative history of the 1976 addition of "occupied vehicle" to the proscribed targets in section 246 shows the concern was to avoid having to prove someone who shot at a car intended great bodily harm to people in the car.

The other flaw in respondent's position is that it fails to address the relevant legislative history. Although section 246 was enacted in 1949, the language at issue here, adding "occupied vehicle" to the list of proscribed targets was added in 1976. This amendment has its own legislative history, a history that does not support respondent's proposed interpretation of the statute. Appellant discussed the history of the 1976 addition of the "occupied vehicle" clause in his Opening Brief in the Court of Appeal, a brief respondent presumably read. This suggests that respondent's failure to incorporate that history into its analysis here, in the Supreme Court, is not an oversight, but a strategy to avoid the most relevant evidence of legislative intent since it does not support respondent's position.

The language criminalizing shooting at an occupied motor vehicle was added to section 246 in 1976 after the passage of Assembly Bill 3303, introduced by Assemblyman Terry Goggin at the request of the San Bernardino County District Attorney. (See Sen. Com. on Judiciary, Analysis of Assem. Bill No. 3303 (1975-76 Reg. Sess.), p. 1, indicating the source of bill [attached as part (a) of Appendix, under Cal. Rules of Court.

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